IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE
BLACKBIRD TECH, LLC d/b/a
BLACKBIRD TECHNOLOGIES,
Plaintiff,
C.A. No. 15-056 (RGA)
v.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
ELB ELECTRONICS, INC.,
Defendant.

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT
Plaintiff Blackbird Tech LLC d/b/a/ Blackbird Technologies (“Blackbird Technologies”)
hereby alleges for its First Amended Complaint for Patent Infringement against the above-named
Defendant, on personal knowledge as to its own activities and on information and belief as to all
other matters, as follows:
THE PARTIES
1.

Plaintiff Blackbird Technologies is a company organized under the laws of

Delaware, with its principal place of business located at One Boston Place, Suite 2600, Boston,
MA, 02108.
2.

Defendant ELB Electronics, Inc. (“ELB”) is a corporation organized under the laws

of California with its principal place of business located at 67 E. Live Oak Ave., Suite 101,
Arcadia, CA 91006.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
3.

This is an action for patent infringement arising under the provisions of the Patent

Laws of the United States of America, title 35, United States Code §§ 100, et sec.
4.

Subject-matter jurisdiction over Blackbird Technologies’ claims is conferred upon

this Court by 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction) and 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a) (patent
jurisdiction).
5.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant is subject

to general and specific jurisdiction in the State of Delaware. Defendant has also established
minimum contacts with this forum. Defendant regularly conducts business in the State of
Delaware, including by manufacturing, selling, and/or offering to sell products in this judicial
district. Defendant’s actions constitute patent infringement in this district in violation of 35 U.S.C.
§ 271 and place infringing products into the stream of commerce, with the knowledge and
understanding that such products are sold in this District. The acts by Defendant cause injury to
Blackbird Technologies within this District.
6.

Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 (b) and (c)

and § 1400(b) and because Defendant transacts business within this District and offers for sale in
this District products that infringe U.S. Patent No. 7,086,747.
COUNT I – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7,086,747
7.

Blackbird Technologies reasserts and incorporates herein by reference the

allegations of all preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
8.

On August 8, 2006, U.S. Patent No. 7,086,747 (the “’747 Patent”) entitled, “Low-

Voltage Apparatus for Satisfying After-Hours Lighting Requirements, Emergency Lighting
Requirements, and Low Light Requirements,” a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto

as “Exhibit A,” was duly and legally issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. Blackbird
Technologies is the owner by assignment of all right, title, and interest to the ‘747 Patent, including
all right to recover for any and all past infringement thereof.
9.

The ‘747 Patent is valid and enforceable.

10.

ELB has in the past and continues to infringe literally, and/or under the Doctrine of

Equivalents, one or more of the claims of the ‘747 Patent by making, using, importing, selling
and/or offering to sell, in this judicial district and elsewhere in the United States, Retrofit LED
Tube Lights including, but not limited to, one or more of the LED Tube Lights listed in Exhibit B,
which are covered by at least one claim of the ‘747 Patent. Defendant’s infringing activities violate
35 U.S.C. § 271.
11.

Alternatively, ELB has contributed to the infringement of the ‘747 Patent by selling

or offering to sell within the United States a component of a patented machine or manufacture, or
a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, constituting a material part of the
invention, knowing the same to be especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement
of the ‘747 patent, and not a staple article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial
noninfringing use. ELB has had actual knowledge of the ‘747 patent since at least January 20,
2015, when the Complaint in this case was filed. Since that time, ELB has sold or offered to sell
within the United States LED Tube Lights, including, but not limited to, the products identified in
Exhibit B, which are a component of a machine and/or manufacture claimed by the ‘747 Patent,
and/or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a process claimed by the ‘747 Patent. The LED
Tube Lights are a material part of the claimed invention. For example, the LED Tube Lights are
components of an energy-efficient lighting apparatus for retrofit with an existing light fixture
having a ballast cover, as described in claim 12 of the ‘747 Patent. When these components are

coupled to a wall switch, as described in claim 12 of the ‘747 Patent, the resulting structure
infringes claim 12 of the ’747 Patent. By coupling the LED Tube Lights to a wall switch, ELB’s
customers, and others, have infringed and are continuing to infringe the ‘747 Patent. Further, ELB
knows the LED Tube Lights are especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement
of the ‘747 Patent and that they are not a staple article or commodity of commerce suitable for
substantial noninfringing use. To the extent the LED Tube Lights can be used in configurations
where they are not coupled to a wall switch, those uses are insubstantial, particularly when
compared with their use in configurations where they are coupled to a wall switch.
12.

In the further alternative, ELB has actively induced infringement of the ‘747 Patent

by directing purchasers of products, including, but not limited to, the LED Tube Lights, to couple
those products to a wall switch, as described in, for example, claim 12 of the ‘747 Patent.
Defendants actively induced these actions while knowing that the induced acts constitute
infringement of the ‘747 Patent. ELB has had actual knowledge of the ‘747 patent since at least
January 20, 2015, when the Complaint in this case was filed and, since that time, has been aware
that the accused products infringe the ‘747 Patent. ELB has induced infringement by, without
limitation, making, using, importing, selling and/or offering for sale the LED Tube Lights for use
by customers and others and, upon information and belief, providing those customers and others
with instructions and information as to arrangements, applications, and uses of the LED Tube
Lights that promote and demonstrate how to use the LED Tube Lights in a manner that would
infringe the ‘747 Patent, including by coupling those LED Tube Lights to a wall switch.
Accordingly, since at least January 20, 2015, ELB has specifically intended its customers to
infringe the ‘747 Patent and has known that its customers’ acts constitute infringement.

13.

Blackbird Technologies is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that

Defendant has gained profits by virtue of their respective infringement of the ‘747 Patent.
14.

Blackbird Technologies has sustained damages as a direct and proximate result of

Defendant’s infringement of the ‘747 Patent.
15.

As a consequence of Defendant’s infringement of the ’747 Patent, Blackbird

Technologies is entitled to recovery of past damages in the form of, at a minimum, a reasonable
royalty.
16.

Upon information and belief, Defendant will continue to infringe the ‘747 Patent

unless enjoined by this Court.
17.

As a consequence of continued infringement of the ‘747 Patent by Defendant

complained of herein, Blackbird Technologies has been irreparably damaged to an extent not yet
determined and will continue to be irreparably damaged by such acts unless Defendant is enjoined
by this Court from committing further acts of infringement. Blackbird Technologies has no
adequate remedy at law. In the event this Court determines that it will not award injunctive relief,
this Court should require Defendant to pay damages for past infringement of the ‘747 Patent and
royalties for its infringement of the ‘747 Patent on a going-forward basis.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Blackbird Technologies respectfully requests that this Court enter
judgment against ELB, as follows:
A.

Adjudging that the ‘747 Patent is valid and enforceable;

B.

Adjudging that ELB has infringed one or more claims of the ‘747 Patent, directly

or indirectly, literally or under the Doctrine of Equivalents, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271;

C.

An award of damages to be paid by Defendant adequate to compensate Plaintiff for

its past infringement and any continuing or future infringement up until the date such
judgment is entered, and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, including interest, costs,
and disbursements as justified under 35 U.S.C. § 284 and, if necessary to adequately
compensate Plaintiff for Defendant’s infringement, an accounting of all infringing sales
including, but not limited to, those sales not presented at trial;
D.

Granting Blackbird Technologies permanent injunctive relief pursuant to 35 U.S.C.

§ 283 enjoining Defendant, its officers, agents, servants, employees, affiliates, and those
persons in active consort with them from future acts of patent infringement of the ‘747
Patent;
E.

Awarding Blackbird Technologies all damages, including treble damages, pursuant

to 35 U.S.C. § 284;
F.

In the event that this Court determines that it will not enter injunctive relief,

ordering Defendant to continue to pay royalties to Blackbird Technologies for infringement
of the ‘747 Patent on a going-forward basis;
G.

This case be judged an Exceptional Case under 25 U.S.C. § 285, and costs and

attorney’s fees be awarded to Blackbird Technologies;
H.

Awarding Plaintiff pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the maximum rate

permitted by law on its damages; and
I.

Blackbird Technologies be granted such further relief as this Court deems just and

proper under the circumstances.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Blackbird Technologies demands a trial by jury on all claims and issues so triable.

Dated: July 1, 2016
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EXHIBIT A

EXHIBIT B

LED lighting products with the following model numbers/SKUs and all substantially similar
products:
LEDBX-17-830-B-RSC
LEDBX-17-830-B-RSF
LEDBX-17-830-B-RSx
LEDBX-17-835-B-RSC
LEDBX-17-835-B-RSF
LEDBX-17-835-B-RSx
LEDBX-17-840-B-RSC
LEDBX-17-840-B-RSF
LEDBX-17-840-B-RSx
LEDBX-17-850-B-RSC
LEDBX-17-850-B-RSF
LEDBX-17-850-B-RSx
LEDBX-22-830-B-RSC
LEDBX-22-830-B-RSF
LEDBX-22-830-B-RSx
LEDBX-22-835-B-RSC
LEDBX-22-835-B-RSF
LEDBX-22-835-B-RSx
LEDBX-22-840-B-RSC
LEDBX-22-840-B-RSF
LEDBX-22-840-B-RSx
LEDBX-22-850-B-RSC
LEDBX-22-850-B-RSF
LEDBX-22-850-B-RSx
LEDT10H-8-44-17-8xx-B-FSF
LEDT5-10-830-B-FSC
LEDT5-10-830-B-FSF
LEDT5-10-830-B-FSx
LEDT5-10-835-B-FSC
LEDT5-10-835-B-FSF
LEDT5-10-835-B-FSx
LEDT5-10-840-B-FSC
LEDT5-10-840-B-FSF
LEDT5-10-840-B-FSx
LEDT5-10-850-B-FSC
LEDT5-10-850-B-FSF
LEDT5-10-850-B-FSx
LEDT5-15-830-B-FSC
LEDT5-15-830-B-FSF
LEDT5-15-830-B-FSx
LEDT5-15-835-B-FSC
LEDT5-15-835-B-FSF
LEDT5-15-835-B-FSx

LEDT5-15-840-B-FSC
LEDT5-15-840-B-FSF
LEDT5-15-840-B-FSx
LEDT5-15-850-B-FSC
LEDT5-15-850-B-FSF
LEDT5-15-850-B-FSx
LEDT5-20-830-B-FSC
LEDT5-20-830-B-FSF
LEDT5-20-830-B-FSx
LEDT5-20-830-B-FSx
LEDT5-20-835-B-FSC
LEDT5-20-835-B-FSF
LEDT5-20-835-B-FSx
LEDT5-20-835-B-FSx
LEDT5-20-840-B-FSC
LEDT5-20-840-B-FSF
LEDT5-20-840-B-FSx
LEDT5-20-840-B-FSx
LEDT5-20-850-B-FSC
LEDT5-20-850-B-FSF
LEDT5-20-850-B-FSx
LEDT5-20-850-B-FSx
LEDT8-12-830-B-xSF
LEDT8-12-830-B-xSx
LEDT8-12-835-B-xSF
LEDT8-12-835-B-xSx
LEDT8-12-840-B-xSF
LEDT8-12-840-B-xSx
LEDT8-12-850-B-xSF
LEDT8-12-850-B-xSx
LEDT8-17-830-B-FHC Ux
LEDT8-17-830-B-FHF
LEDT8-17-830-B-FHF Ux
LEDT8-17-830-B-FHx
LEDT8-17-830-B-Fxx Ux
LEDT8-17-830-B-xSC
LEDT8-17-830-B-xSF
LEDT8-17-830-B-xSx
LEDT8-17-830-U-FSF
LEDT8-17-830-U-xxx
LEDT8-17-835-B-FHC Ux
LEDT8-17-835-B-FHF
LEDT8-17-835-B-FHF Ux
LEDT8-17-835-B-FHx
LEDT8-17-835-B-Fxx Ux
LEDT8-17-835-B-xSC

LEDT8-17-835-B-xSF
LEDT8-17-835-B-xSx
LEDT8-17-835-U-FSF
LEDT8-17-835-U-xxx
LEDT8-17-840-B-FHC Ux
LEDT8-17-840-B-FHF
LEDT8-17-840-B-FHF Ux
LEDT8-17-840-B-FHx
LEDT8-17-840-B-Fxx Ux
LEDT8-17-840-B-xSC
LEDT8-17-840-B-xSF
LEDT8-17-840-B-xSx
LEDT8-17-840-U-FSF
LEDT8-17-840-U-xxx
LEDT8-17-850-B-FHC Ux
LEDT8-17-850-B-FHF
LEDT8-17-850-B-FHF Ux
LEDT8-17-850-B-FHx
LEDT8-17-850-B-Fxx Ux
LEDT8-17-850-B-xSC
LEDT8-17-850-B-xSF
LEDT8-17-850-B-xSx
LEDT8-17-850-U-FSF
LEDT8-17-850-U-xxx
LEDT8-17U-830-B-xxx
LEDT8-17U-835-B-xxx
LEDT8-17U-840-B-xxx
LEDT8-17U-850-B-xxx
LEDT8-22-830-B-xSF
LEDT8-22-830-B-xSx
LEDT8-22-830-U-FSF
LEDT8-22-835-B-xSF
LEDT8-22-835-B-xSx
LEDT8-22-835-U-FSF
LEDT8-22-840-B-xSF
LEDT8-22-840-B-xSx
LEDT8-22-850-B-xSF
LEDT8-22-850-B-xSx
LEDT8-22-850-U-FSF
LEDT8-44-830-B-xxx
LEDT8-44-830-U-FSF
LEDT8-44-830-U-xxx
LEDT8-44-835-B-xxx
LEDT8-44-835-U-FSF
LEDT8-44-835-U-xxx
LEDT8-44-840-B-xxx

LEDT8-44-840-U-FSF
LEDT8-44-840-U-xxx
LEDT8-44-850-B-xxx
LEDT8-44-850-U-FSF
LEDT8-44-850-U-xxx
LEDT8-8-830-B-FHF
LEDT8-8-830-B-xSC
LEDT8-8-830-B-xSF
LEDT8-8-830-B-xSx
LEDT8-8-835-B-FHF
LEDT8-8-835-B-xSC
LEDT8-8-835-B-xSF
LEDT8-8-835-B-xSx
LEDT8-8-840-B-FHF
LEDT8-8-840-B-xSC
LEDT8-8-840-B-xSF
LEDT8-8-840-B-xSx
LEDT8-8-850-B-FHF
LEDT8-8-850-B-xSC
LEDT8-8-850-B-xSF
LEDT8-8-850-B-xSx
LEDT8H-5-29-830-FSC
LEDT8H-5-29-830-FSF
LEDT8H-5-29-830-FSx
LEDT8H-5-29-835-FSC
LEDT8H-5-29-835-FSF
LEDT8H-5-29-835-FSx
LEDT8H-5-29-840-FSC
LEDT8H-5-29-840-FSF
LEDT8H-5-29-840-FSx
LEDT8H-5-29-850-FSC
LEDT8H-5-29-850-FSF
LEDT8H-5-29-850-FSx
LEDT8S-8-36-830-B-FSC
LEDT8S-8-36-830-B-FSF
LEDT8S-8-36-830-B-FSx
LEDT8S-8-36-835-B-FSC
LEDT8S-8-36-835-B-FSF
LEDT8S-8-36-835-B-FSx
LEDT8S-8-36-840-B-FSC
LEDT8S-8-36-840-B-FSF
LEDT8S-8-36-840-B-FSx
LEDT8S-8-36-850-B-FSC
LEDT8S-8-36-850-B-FSF
LEDT8S-8-36-850-B-FSx
LEDT8S-8-44-830-B-FSC

LEDT8S-8-44-830-B-FSF
LEDT8S-8-44-830-B-FSx
LEDT8S-8-44-835-B-FSC
LEDT8S-8-44-835-B-FSF
LEDT8S-8-44-835-B-FSx
LEDT8S-8-44-840-B-FSC
LEDT8S-8-44-840-B-FSF
LEDT8S-8-44-840-B-FSx
LEDT8S-8-44-850-B-FSC
LEDT8S-8-44-850-B-FSF
LEDT8S-8-44-850-B-FSx
LEDTBX-17-8xx-B-RSF
LEDTBX-22-8xx-B-RSF

